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crNDINGS OF FACT, concLUSTONS OF
LAY AND ORDER

After an investigahion of the pharmacy practice of ?hilip F.
shermak: P.D.s ("lthe Respondent“). the Maryland State goard of
PFharmacy (Ythe Board“) jssued @ charging dncument an Ju;y 17
1991 against the Respondent atleging thakt he wa% prnfessinnally
incompeten%'in violation af Heallth Dccupations Article
§12~315(h)(20). on November 21 and pecembaf 1y, 1991, @ hearing
was held hefore the Bnard‘l preaent al the hesrind were the
Respondent and his attornel. Anton Keabting, Fedr the
Administrative Prosecutur, Roberta Gill:, Assistant Attorne¥
geraraly Roslyn gcheer gxecutive pirector for the Roard: Rrenda

Aslcev poard staff and the counsel to the Board. Nancy P Tennis,

Assistant Athnrney General.
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1Bnard membe?r William Adams W2t unable to attend the
pecembe? session of the hearing put read the pecaenmbe?
transcript of the hearing hefore particinating in
deliberatiuns.
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schedule 11 controlled dangerous ‘snbstance.

2. pr. Gordon? general practitianer was nokt authorizgd
o operate a substance ahuse or me{hadone %ﬂWEEtment center.
Morpovery the ev1dence does not demonqttatp that she was engaged
an the practjce af @ sperxalky rhat {ijlﬂl\\; wses pmassive doses

{ painkallerﬁ.

4. nSs 5Lated ip O Gordnn‘€ mediCRl records) patient A
who 1eceiVPd ],ggﬁ tah)ﬂt of dntoph\nn avetr 2 Deriod of four
monkhs? was @ heroll user whn nygants vo aeb off every{hing,,,ﬂ

and Was “[r\eferred py DY Shermak, 2] pharmacist,"
G. AS Stated in Broe Gordon’s medjra! records, 8 second
patieni: arient B had used mekhadone and seconal for the
evious 1even yeats and wamfed vo gelb of f drugs. Her recbrdg
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stabte "Ny ghermak 5avs hets like (Patient A
able o stick to any wind of treetment.“
5. pr. Gordon's medical notes also refer Lo patient c, who
received 1,370 rablets of dolophine gver @ six~month period, as a8
hn need of @ substance abuse progyai.
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tableks every four hours. This prescription should have jasted
at 1east eight davs} however on April 25 1988, only three days
1ater: Respondent gilled another prescrjption for one hundred
tablekts of dolophine signed bV Dr. Gordon fer patient A

11. Respondenk dispensed the hundred yablets of dolophine
to patient A on April o5 with instrUCtions to take two tablets
every four hours. This prescription should have lasted at least
eight days: oply four days later: nouwever: on April 59, 1988,
Respondent filled anothe? prescription for one hundred rablets of
dolophine signed py Dr. Gordon. Respondent also dispensed ten
capsules of nembutal to Patient A ON ppril 25 . Although this
prescription should have jasted at least ten daysy Respondent
filled Dr. gordon's prescription dated twWoO davs takter oN april
27 1988 for Patient A in the amount of fifty nembutal capsules.
Becaus®e that prescription instructed Lhe patient ro take four
capsules @ day it should have 1asted at 1east twelve davs. only
rwo days later: however: on ppril 29 1988 Respondent dispensed
another thirty capsules af nemhutal to patient A pursuant to
another prescription signed hy DF - cordon.

12 . Respondent dispensed the one hnndred yablets of
dolophino to Patient A on Aprit 29 wikh inskruntions rq take two
tablets avery four hours. The dosage® should have 1asted alt least
eight davs. only five davs iater: howevei on Way Gy Respondent
filled anothevr dolophine prescription sssued bV pr. Gordon to
patient Ao That prescription faor & qundred rabhlets to be raken 1
tablet every four ro siX hotitts should have 1asted at ieast

sixteehn davs. onliy three davs 1ater: howevel on May Ty



Respondent dispensed ninety tablets of dolophine to patient A
based onh @ prescription signed bBY nr. Gordon. ps that
prescription instructed the patient to take Lthree +tablets every
four hours: it should have 1asted at jeast five days. Oniy two
days later: however, on May 9. Respondent dispensed 2 hundred and
eighty tablets of'dolophine to patient A hased on 2 prescription
signed by pr. Gordon.

33. The Hay 9 1988 prescpiption was itabelled by Dr. Gordon
as "final Rxﬁpatient has appoinkment with hospital for continuing
treatment.“. in addition;: hecause the one hundred and eighty
Ltablets of dolophine were to bhe raken bV patient A 2t a rate of 3
tablets every A hours, the ppescription =hould have 1asted 10
days. Fifteen davs later, oON May 2% 1988, the Respondent
dispensed another rwenty—four rablets of dolophine to Patient A
as prescribed by Dr. Gordon.

14. The thirty capsules of nembutal dispensed to Patient A
on April 29, 1988 by the Respondent should have lasted thirty
davs. gnly three days later: powevears Respondent dispensed fifty
capsules nf nemhu&al 1o patient A Dased on @ prescription written
by Dr. Gordan and dated Hav 2, 1988, The labtber prescriptiun
should have lasted fFiflty davst however: anly two davs later
Respnnden% disnensed FiELyY sddi&innal capasulaes of nembutal Lo
Patient s on May £y 1988 pased on @ ppescription siygned by Dr.
Gordon.

15, The fifty capsules of nembutal gispensed on May f»

1988, by the Respondenk should have jasted patient A FiFLy davs.,



yet an Hay g, 1988, Respnndent dispensed another forhy—eight
capsules of pembutal as prescribed by Dr. Gordon.

16. on May 421, 1988, the Respondent dispensed forty tahlets
of dolophine to Patient A as prescribed by DBr. Gordon. Because
the patient was instructed to take two and a half tableks a dav:
that prescription‘should have tasted at teast sixteen days. onilv
four davs later: however, oON June G 1988 Respondent dispensed
anokther thirty tablets of dolophine to Patient A as prescribed by
Dr. Gordon. That prescription should have 1asted at least twelve
davs. Unly_four davs later: however, OB June B 1988, Respondent
dispensed an additional rwenty-four capsules of dolophine to
patient A as prescribed by Dr. Gordon.

17. On June g, 1988, Respondent also dispensed Lwelve
capsules of nembutal to Patient A. Di. gordon had prescrihed
that the patient take one capsule at pedtime and therefore, this
amount should have 1asted fort twelve days. Yet on June 10, 1988,
Respondent dispensed an additional eighlteen capsules of nembutal
to patient A as prescrihed hy Ur. Gordon. Again, this dosage
should have 1asted ajighteen davs., vet four davs later: onn June
1a, 1988, Respondenh dispensed additinnal membutal to Patient A
as prescrihed by Dr. Gordon .

18, On June 20, 1988, respondent dispensed seventy-5ix
tablets of dolophine to Patient A, DBecause pr. Gordon instructed
that the patient should take only two tablets four rimes a day,
his supply should have 1asted at igast nine days. only four
davs later: however ©ON June 24 19288, Respondent dispensed

ryenty-four tablets of dolophine to Patient A. hecause Dr .



had an chligation "o report the physician to the appropriate
authority, to the Division of Drug Cantrol or [United States Drug
Enforcement Agency},¥ and that he should not have continued to
£111 the patient’'s prescriptions. November 21, 1991, T.190-91.

22. The Board finds the Respondent's testimony with respect
ko Patient A to 1ack credibility. Respondent attempted to
justify dispensing large amounts of methadone to Patient A
because Patient A was jaundiced and in pain. Respondent adhits,
however, that from his experience: he knew that methadone was hot
a treatment for Jjaundice. He also admits that Patient A was able
to walk in and pick up his own prescription, He also
acknowledged that jaundice relates to liver failure, and that the
1iver metabholizes toxic substances like drugs for the body vet he
did not challenge the axcessive use of nembutal and methadone
(doltophine) for a patient with jaundice. December 11, 1991,
T.50-51 and 57. Instead, based on pPatient A's medical record,
the Board finds that Respondent toid Dr. Gardon that Patient A
was a heroin user and that Patient B was Tiike [Patient A}l ~ @
wild one - not able to stick to any kKind of treatment.”

23. Respondent did not present expert testimony that would
support his pattern of dispensinug.

26. The circumstances surrounding the prescriptions for
Patient A provided more than suffient notice for Respondent that
Dr. Gordon was, for whatever reason; engaged in a practice of
overprescribing without adequate madical justification. The

Board finds that Respondent knew that Patient A was a drug abuser



Gordon instructed with respect to this prescription that Patient
A take two tablets only three times a day, the supply should have
lasted four days. Three days later, however, Respondent
dispensed another sixty tablets of dolophine as prescribed by Dr.
Gordon.

19. On June 26, 1988, Respondent dispensed ten capsules of
nembutal to Patient A. As instructed by Dr. Gordon the dosage of
one or two capsules at bedtine should have lasted at least five
davys. Only three days later, however, on June 27, 1987,
Respondent dispensed additional nemhutal to Patient A as
prescribed by Dr. Gordon.

20. On July 7, 1988, Respondent dispensed sixty tablets of
dolophine with instructions from Dr. Gordon to Patient A to take
ohe tablet every four hours. This dosage should have lasted at
least fifteen days. Only four days later, however, on Julyv 11,
1988, Respondent dispensed an additional forty-eight tablets of
dolophine to Patient A with instructions to take one tablet every
four hours, This supply should have lasted at least twelve davs,
Only eight days later, however, on July 19, 1288, Respondent
dispensed an additional one hundred tablets nf dolophine to
patjent A as prescribed by Dr. Gordon.

21. As indicated hy the State's experbt, Dr. Eileen
Zuckerwan, a pharmacist 1is responsihle to judge whether a
prescription is written for & legitimate medical purpose.
November 21, 1991, T.180., The Board accepts the opinion of Dr,
Fileen Zuckerman that, based on the prescribing practice

exhibited by Dr. Gordon with respect bto Patient A, the Respondent



vet continued to dispense Schedule 11 drugs to him without a
legitimate medical reason.

25. Despite these continuing patterns of overprescribing,
the Respondent did not refuse to fill any of these prescriptions
nor did he report Dr. Gordon's conduct to responsible authorities
such as the Maryland Division of BDrug Control during that
agency's inspections of his pharmacy or to the United States Drug

Enforcement Agency.

DR. RAYMOND BAYERLE

Michael Williard

36. Qver a four—-month period from May 5, 1988 through
September 8, 1988, Respondent filled prescriptions sighed by Dr.
Raymond Baverle that provided eight hundred (800) tablets of
dilaudid to Michael Williard, Dilaudid is a schedule 11
controlled dangerous substance.

27. QOver a period of seven months from February 5, 1988 to
September 21, 1988, Respondent dispensed four thousand three
hundred and ninety (4.398) tahlets of dilaudid o fill
prescriptions signed by Dr. Ravmond Baverle far fictitious
patients. These prescriptions were picked up at Winn's Pharmacy
by Michael Williard's wife, hrother and friends.

2. Michael Williard subsedquently pleaded guilty to a
felony count of conspiracy to distribute dilaudid and dolophine
in violation of 21 U.S.C. §866 in the United States District
Court for the District of Marvland [in connection with

prescriptions dispensed by Respondent ],

~10-



29, The fact that Dr. Ravymond Bayerle was neot in a
specialty, such as cancer treatment, that would call for the
amount of the dilaudid obtained by the fictitious prescriptions
signed by Baverle and presented by Williard, his wife, hrother
and friends should have placed Respondent on notice that Dr.
Baverle, who also subsequently pleaded guilty to conspiracy to
distribute dilaudid, was not prescribing for a legitimate medical
purpose. The Board does not believe that the Respondent reported
Dr. Baverle to drug enforcement authorities, At the very least,
Respondent qould have declined to fill Dr. Baverle's
prescriptions. Buring the same time period, however, Respondent
offered Dr. Baverle a rent#l uni¥ in Respondent's building so
that Dr. Baverle could open an office above Respondent's

pharmacy.

Donald Zorbach

30. Over a six-month period including December 10, 1987
fhrough June 23, 1988, Respondent filled prescriptions signed by
Dr. Ravmond Baverle that provided five hundred (500} tablets of
dilaudid and two hundred (2003 tablets ot dolovhine (i,e.;,
methadone) to Donald Zorbach,

31. Donald Zorbach subsequently pleaded guilty to a feliony
count of conspiracy to distribute dilaudid and dolophine in
violation of 21 U.S.C. 8846 in the United States District Court
for the District of Maryland [in connection with prescriptions
filled by Respondent].

32, Respondenht enahbled Donald Zorbach and Michael Williard

to obtain large amounts of dolophine or methadone despite

_.11._



circumstances that should have raised his suspicions. Respondent
admits that on one occasion, after describing Dr. Baverle's
prescribing practices to Dr. Baverle's supervisor, Respondent
complied with the supervisor's request not to fill a particular
prescription. Decetiber 11, T-34. Dr. Ravymond Baverle's practice
was not registered as an authorized methadone treatment center
and, in any case, would not have been authorized to use
prescriptions to treat addicts. Moreover, as indicated above,
Dr. Baverle did not practice a specialfty that would call for
large amounts of dilaudid and dolophine. Yet, Respondent
continued to fill prescriptions for large amounts of dilaudid and
dolophine, in contravention of his corresponding responsibility
to £ill only those prescriptions that serve a legitimate wmedical
purpose.

3%. The Board is skepltical that a Howard County police
officer, if told an accurate accoﬁnt of Dr. Baverle's prescribing
practices, would have advised Respondent te continue filling Dr.
Baverle's prescriptions, In any event, the Roard finds, as
acknowledged by Respondent. that a pnlice officer does not have
the expertise of a pharmacist bo dolarmine wielher bthere is &
legitimate medical basis For a prescription, In addition, the
Board finds that the circumstances described in detail above
warranted a refusal by the Respondent toe fill Dr. Baverle's

prescriptions.

SUMMARY
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26. Although Patients A, B and C saw Dr. Gordon in
Timonhium, Maryvland and Donald Zorbach and Michael Williard
obtained their prescriptions from Dr. Baverle, who practiced in
Howard Countv, all six patients took these nhumerous prescriptions
to the Respondent at Winn's Pharmacy. Respondent was unable to
give a coherent explanation of why all these patients would come
"from all over the city™ to Respondent's pharmacy in
Highlandtown. December 11, 1991, T.60-64.

35, During the period January to July 1988, the Resﬁondent
also dispensed excessive amounts of dilaudid, a schedule 11
controlled dangerous substance, During that period, Winn's
Pharmacy distributed 314 prescriptions that included a total of
28,580 tablets of dilaudid. [Tts closest competitorin Marvland
was Giant Pharmacy No 11585, which dispensed only eighteen
prescriptions totalling 820 tablets]., FEighty per cent of those
28,580 tablets were dispensed by the Respondent to patients of
Dr. Baverle. In contrast, the average pharmacy in Marvland
purchases approximately 500-1000 tablets of dilaudid for
dispensing per yeatr.

36, The Board believes the kestimony of the State's expert
witness, Dr. Fileen Zuckerman, who testified that, with respect
to prescriptions written by Drs. Gordon and Baverle, the pattern
of dispensing by the Respondent constitutes incompetence in the
practice of pharmacy. November 21, 1991, T.194,

37. By dispensing methadone, nembutal and dilaudid in
excessive amounts and upder highly suspicious circumstances, by

continuing to dispense schedule TI contrelled dangerous
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substances despite circumstances that should have alerted hin
that the prescriptions were not for a legitimate medical purpose,
by failing to challenge repeated overprescribing by doctors who
were not operating drug treatment facilities (and if they were,
would not be authorized in any event to administer such drugs by
wav of prescriptidn) and who were not practicing oncology or a
similar specially demanding massive amounts of painkilling
treatments, and by failing to report suspicious prescribing
practices in any meaningful way tao the appropriate authorities,
the Respondgn% demonstrated incompetence in the practice of

pharmacy.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based on the aforegoing Findings of Facl, the Board herebhy
concludes as a matbter of law that the Respondent is
professionally incompetent in violation of Maryland Health

Occupations Arkticle 812-313(b)(20),

ORDER

On this /6 day of j(ﬂ[/bzf(l{;l(f@ 1992, it is

ORDERED by a vote of a two-thirds majority of the Board
memhers now serving that Respondent's license lo practice
pharmacy is hereby REVOKED, and be 1t further

DRDERED that upon receipt of this the Respondent, Philip F.
Shermak, P.D., shall immediately deliver the following items to
the Board's Executive Direcltor or her designated representative:

(1) his diploma-sized Certificate of Licensure by the
Marvland Board of Pharmacy.

-1~




2) his current Department of Health and Mental
jal Certificate;, and

Hyvgiene License Renev

(3) his current wallet—sized renewal card.

- Date - StevénWCohe;T
Chairman

Marvland Board of Pharmacy
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